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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN JOSE DIVISION

SECURITIESAND EXCHANGE Case No.: 11GV-03451EJD
COMMISSION
ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR
Plaintiff, DEFAULT JUDGMENT
V.

JEFREY ALAN LOWRANCE andFIRST
CAPITAL SAVINGS & LOAN, LTD.,

N N N N N e e e e

Defendants

The Searities and Exchange Commissi¢SEC”) moves for entry of default judgment
against DefendasJeffrey Alan Lowrancg“Lowrance”) andFirst Capital Savings & Loaritd.
(“First Capital”’) The SEC seekisjunctive relief, disgorgement of ifjotten gains, antnposition
of civil penaltiesstemming from Defendaritalleged violatios of 15 U.S.C. 88 77e(a), 77e(c), and
77q(a), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. The Courtted&&EC’snotion under
submission on December 6, 2011 without oral argument pursuant to Civil IL(B). FFor the
reasons set forth belothe motionis granted
/

/
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|. BACKGROUND

A. Factual History

The SECallegesthe following facts:

Over the course of at lead8 months Lowrance induced 230 investors to invest
approximately $21 million with First Capitldr thestatedpurpose of tradinfpreign currencies.
Compl. § 10. Lowrance, through tRest Capitawebsite knowingly made or authorized
numerous false and misleading statements, inclddjnges and charisegarding the nature and
profitability of investments with First Capitdd. 1 11, 13, 15-17 & 1%or example, the website
claimedthat First Capitalvas a highly profitable company that used investor money to trade
foreign currency and offered monthly returns of 4% to 7.18%41113 & 15.First Capitainever
engagedn the trades listedand thefew trades itdid makewere not profitabletherefore the
statements, figures, and charts were fatse 21.Lowrance andrirst Capitale-mailed clients
daily reports purporting to show the profitabilityifst Capitalk trades to induce investment into
First Capital Id. § 17.Neither Lowrance ndfirst Capitalever engaged in the trades detailed on t
daily emails.ld. 117 & 21. Lowrance an#irst Capitalwrote to their investors claiming to have
aletter of creditguaranteeing the security of investments, but no such éstterexistedid. I 19.
Lowrance perpetrated a Ponzi scheme by using some investor money to pay othmsinves
purported returns, and he diverted other investor money to fund astaetvspper.i1d. 1 1 &

22.

B. Procedural History

The SECfiled thisactionon July 14, 2011, bringing claims of securities fraud against
Lowrance and his comparyrst Capital ECF No. 1 After Defendard Lowrance andrirst Capital
wereserved with process and failed to respond in a timely manner, ECIB &0&.Plaintiff
moved for entry of default and served the motion by mail. ECF Nos. 8,8143The clerk
entered defaukgainst Lowrancen August 16, 2011, ECF No. ld#ndagains First Capitalon
September 9, 2011. ECF No. 21. Plaintiff moved for default judgment on December 9, 2011,

provided proof of service indicating that a copy of the application for default judgmasntailed
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to both Defendants. ECF No. 28. Defendants dicanstverthe complaint or respond the

motions, and have never made an appearance in this action.

1. DISCUSSION
A. Jurisdiction
Courts have an affirmative duty to examine their own jurisdictibotk-subject matter
jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction—when entry of judgment is sought against anpadetault.
In re Tuli, 172 F.3d 707, 712 (9th Cir. 1999).
1. Subject Matter Jurisdiction
The court hasubject mattejurisdiction over this aatin because the complaseeks relief
pursuant to causes of action authorized by 15 U.S.C. 88 77t(d)(1) & 77v(a) and 15 U.S.C. 88
78u(d)(3), 78u(e), and8aa. Se@8 U.S.C. § 1331.
2. Personal Jurisdiction
Service of a summons in a federal action establishes personal jurisdictiondefen@ant
who is subject to the jurisdiction of a court of general jurisdiction in the state wiesdistrict
court is locatedFed. R. Civ. P. 4(k)(1)(A)Xalifornia permits its courts texercise personal
jurisdiction to the maximum extent permittedder the U.S. Constitution. Cal. Civ. Proc. Code 8
410.10. Plaintiffs bear the burden of establishing the court’s personal jurisdicticthever

DefendantsSeeScott v. Breeland, 792 F.2d 925, 927 (9th Cir. 1986).

Personal jurisdiction over a defendant does not violateuaprdcessprotections of the
U.S. Constitution whe(i) the defendant has purposefully direchesl activitiesat residents othe
forum state, and (2) tHeigation arises out of the defendant’s foruelated contact8urger King
Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 472 (1985).

Upon review of the certificates and affidavits of service, the court finds lnatif?
effected service of process in conformity with Fed R. Civ. P. 4(c) and 4(e)(1) and\C&rdc.
Code 8§ 415.20(b5eeECF No. 7 Plaintiff alleges thaDefendants solicited approximately $21
million from hundreds of investors, including investors in California. CofigB The means of

solicitation included the First Capital website, cold calls, and mass malitih§sl1.The
3
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solicitations constitute purposeful direction, and the litigation arises out afdhdtict.
Accordingly, the court may exercise personal jurisdiction over the Defendahts case.

B. Default Judgment

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 55(b), the court may enter default idgme
against a defendant who has failed to plead or otherwise defend an action. “Toecoistts

decision whether to enter default judgment is a discretionary one.” Aldabe veARIES F.2d

1089, 1092 (9th Cir. 1980). The Ninth Circuit has provided seven factors for consideratien by

district court in exercising its discretion to enter default judgment: (1) the pibgsibprejudice to

the plaintiff; (2) the merits aheplaintiff’s substantive claim; (3) the sufficiency of the complaint,

(4) the sum of money at stake in the @cti(5) the possibility of dispute concerning material facts;

(6) whether default was due to excusable negéeat (7) the strong policy underlying the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure favoring decisions on the merits. Eitel v. McCool, 782 F.2d 1470, 14

72 (9th Cir. 1986)When assessing these factors, all factual allegations in the complaint are ta

as true, except those with regard to damabelevideo Sys., Inc. v. Heidenthal, 826 F.2d 915,

917-18 (9th Cir. 1987). “In applying the discretionary standard [td®l], default judgments are
more often granted than denied.” PepsiCo v. Triuvife¢, Inc, 189 F.R.D. 431, 432 (C.D.Cal.

1999).
As set forth below, the Court finds that tael factors favor entry of defétyyudgment.
1. Prgjudiceto the Plaintiff
Plaintiff will be prejudiced if default judgment is not entered. Becausendafds have
elected not to take part in the litigation, the SEC will be unable to fulfil its mandate toestifer
securities lawsnd to obtain injunctiveelief if default judgment is not granted
2. Merits of the Substantive Claim and Sufficiency of the Complaint
Plaintiff has made aompelling showing that Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 77e(a),
77e(c), and 77qg(a), 15 U.S.C. §(ijand 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.
a. Defendants Sold Securities
Defendantgollectedmoney from investors for a foreign currency exchange progsam

telling investors that expert traders would earn significant profits on their beh4]f 10,13 &
4
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15.These ations constituted an investment contract, which is a security pursuasttiors2(a)(1)
of the Securities Act and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act. 15 U.S.C. 8§ 77b; 15 U.S.C § ]
seeSEC v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946).

b. Material Misrepresentations and Omissions
Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the ExchangaddRiuée 10b-
5 thereunder make it unlawful to make untrue statements of material fact, omit matesjaida
any device, scheme or artificedefraud, or engage in any act, practice or course of business w
does or could operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person in connection with a purchaseror
in the offer or sale of, any securitid® U.S.C. 88 77q(a)(1), 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-%b)
fact is material if it would have assumed actual significance in the deliberafiansasonable

investor.TSC Industries, Inc. v. Northway, In@26 U.S. 438, 449, 96 S. Ct. 2126, 48 L. Ed. 2d

757 (1976).

Defendants made numerous untrue statements of material fact and employed alsahent
operated as a fraud or deceit upon the invedbefendants represented that their trading activity
earnechigh annual returns—up to 18.7%espiteknowing that no profable trades were ever
made. Compl. 11 13 & 15. The First Capital website contained a chart and spreduskieet s
profitable tradeshat had nevan fact occurredid. 1 16. Defendants provided dailyneils to
investors toutinghe profitability of thetrades Defendants wesepposedly makindd. 1 17 In
February 2009, Defendardagmitted that these trades never occyroed rathemwere only
recommended tradelsl. T 22; Yun Decl. Ex. 2 at 24, 28, ECF No. 25. In June 2008, Defendant
stopped paying investors dividends but continued to solicit new clients. Compl. {{ 20 & 23.
Lowrance did not inform the new investors that Defendants were not making dividend pagme
other investors or that Defendants were not profitddlef] 23.Defendants failed to disclose that
investor money was not being used for trading but instead to compensate Lowrannararedtis
startup newspapetd. { 1. Finally, Lowrance failed to disclose that he was prohibited by the St
of California from sding foreign currency contractid. 1 8. The complaint and accompanying
declarations make a strong showing of Defendants’ violations of Section 17(a}{&)3S¢curities

Act and Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 of the Exchange Act.
5
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c. Engagement in a Fraudulent Scheme
Offering a security for sale with the intent to misappropriate the pisdsa fraudulent

scheme and violates Section 10b-5 of the Exchange Act. SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 814

(2002).Acts with theprimary purposefacreating dalse appearance of factfiwtherance of the

schemeviolate Rules 10(a) and (c)Simpson v. AOL Time Warner, 452 F.3d 1040, 1048 (9th

Cir. 2006) Gimpson ), vacated on other grounds, Simpson v. Homestore.com, Inc., 519 F.3d 1

(9th Cir. 2008).

Defendants engaged in a fraudulent scheme, conduct that is itself deceptivengriolati
Exchange Act Rules 18&a) and (c). 17 C.F.R8240.10b5(a), (c).Defendants transferred
investor funds to off-shore accounts and then used those funds to pay otbrsavel fund his
startup newspaper. Compl. {fg122. The intent of these payments to investors was to mislead
them and create the illusion that First Capital was profitable and encdurtge investmentd.

1 18.Defendants issuddlse“dividends” to early investors to induce further investment while
knowing theadditional capital wouldever be invested aken together, this conduct constitudes
fraudulent schemthat violates Rules 10b(a) and (c)SeeSimpson |, 452 F.3d at 1048.

d. Unregistered Offersand Sales of Securities

Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act prohibit offering for saletoalesale of a
security through interstate commerce unless a registration statemeethdgdal or is in effect as
to that security. 15 U.S.C. 88 77e(a), (c). The SEC can establish a prima fadiervai&ection
5 by showinghat no registration statement was in effect, thatdefendant sold or offered for sale

the securities, antthatthere was use of interstate trangption, communication, dhe mails in

connection with the sale or offer for sale. SEC v. Cavanagh, 1 F. Supp. 2d 337, 361 (S.D.N.Y|.

aff'd, 155 F.3d 129 (2d Cir. 1998).

Defendants did not have a registration statement in effect for the secilvétyesold or
offered forsale. Compl. § 4. From April 2007 through February 2009, Defendants solicited anc
acquired approximately $21 million from hundreds of investoraultiple states, including
California, throughtheir website, colgalls, and mass mailingsl. 1 10 & 11.Taken as true,

these allegations establish a prima facie violation of Sections 5(a) andl{e)@dcurities Act.
6
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Once the prima facie violation is established, the burden of proof to show that the offer

and sales were exempt from registration shifthédefendantsSeeSEC v. Platform Wireless

Int'l Corp., 617 F.3d 1072, 1086 (9th Cir. 201®3ction 3(a)(11) of the Securities Act exempts
securitiessold or offered for sale solely within one state or territory. 15 U.S.C. § 77c(a)(11).
Section 4(a)(2bf the Securities Act exempts those sales or offers for sale that did not involve
public offering. 15 U.S.C. § 77d(a)(2). Rules 504 and 505 of Regulation D exempt offerings |8
than $1 million and $5 million, respectively. 17 C.F.R. 88 23Q®02), 505(b)(2)(i). Finally,

Rules 505 and 506 exempt sales or offers of sale to less than 35 people who have knowledgy
experience in financial and business mattersC.F.R. 88 230.505(b)(2)(ii), 506(b)(2)(ii).

None of the exemptions apply in this caBefendants had investors from multiple states
and even overseas. Compl.  10. Defendants engaged in a public offering by soliciting unkno
investors through various mediums including the internet, phone calls, and mass mdilffgs
11-12. Defendants raised approximately $21 million dollars over 22 months from hundreds of
investorslid.  10.

Accordingly, Defendants’ sales and offers for sale were not exempt fgpstragion and
violated Sections 5(a) and (c) of the Securities Act.

3. Sum of Money at Stake

An entry of default judgment may not be appropriate where a large sum of money is at
stake Eitel, 782 F.2d at 1472. When determining whether or not to impose penalties the court
consider several factors including “(1) the egregiousness of the defendant’stc(@2)dihe degree
of the defendant’s scienter; (3) whether the defendant’s conduct created tsalldetses or the

risk of substantial losses to other persons; (4) whether the defendant’s condisciated or

j92)

SS

B an

wn

can

recurrent; and (5) whetn the penalty should be reduced due to the defendant’s current and future

financial condition.” SEC v. Opulentica, LLC, 476 F. Supp. 2d 319, 331 (S.D.N.Y. 2007).

The state of California sanctioned Lowrance for similar activiti€z006. Compl. § 8.
These sanctions demonstratgh Lowrance’s knowledge of the unlawfulness of the scheme ang

the recurrence of the violationsowrance andFirst Capitalcaused a great deal of harmillions
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of dollars inlosses for numerous investors. The signifianbunt of the penaltiesoughtin this
case does not outweigh the other factors set forHitéh
4. Concern of Dispute of Material Fact and Excusable Neglect

Defendarg were properly served with the complaint but have not presented a defense
otherwise communicated with tieeurt. There is no indication that the Defendants’ failure to
appear in this action is due to excusable neglect.

Additionally, in February 2009 Lowrane@ote a letteto some of his investors in whitie
admitted that First Capital was never profitable. Cofij@l He also admitted in the same letter
that the emails detailing daily trades were fabricatdththe had mismanaged and lost almost all
of his investor’'s money, and that he used his investor money to pay purported returns and fur
newspaperd. 11 21 &22. Accordingly, there is no indication that the material facts are subject
dispute.

5. Public Policy Concern

Finally, although strong public policy favors decisions on the merits, Defendanisé
not to appear in the action suggests litigation of the merits willhot be possible in this case. In
sum, the court finds that thgtel factors collectively favoentry of default judgment. The Court
therefore GRANTS Plainti¥ motion for entry of default judgment.

C. Scope of Relief

After determining that entry of default is warranted, the court must deethmerterms of
judgment.

1. Injunctive Relief

Plaintiff requests thahe Defendants be enjoineaainst future violations of Sections 5(a),
5(c), and 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) and Rulb &btie Exchange Act.

By statute, te Court has the authority toagtt the injunctive reliesought. 15 U.S.C 88
77t(b), 78u(d), (e)To obtain thatelief, Plaintiff must show a reasonable likelihood of future

securitiedaw violations. See SEC v. Murphy, 626 F.2d 633, 655 (9th Cir. 1980]etermine the

likelihood of future violations the cot must evaluate the totality of the circumstanoekiding

past violationsld. The courtmayalso consider the degree of scienter involved in the violations,
8
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the isolated or recurrent nature of the violations, and the likelihood, due to Defendantatiocgu
that future violations may occud.

Lowrance was previously sanctioned for his trading activities by the @t@@lifornia and
is prohibited from selling commodities there. Compl. { 8. Lowrance estabksts¢€Capitaland
continued tradindor almost two yearafter thatadministrative ordewasissued|d. 1. The
totality of the circumstances of the alleged violations re\eealgnificantikelihood that
Defendanwill continue this activity an injunction against furtherolationsis thereforeproper.

2. Disgorgement of 11l1-Gotten Gains
The Court has broad powers in equity to order the disgorgement of funds obtained thrg

violations ofthesecurities lawsSEC v. FirstPacific Bancorp142 F.3d 1186, 1191 (9th Cir.

1998). The SEC need only show a reasonable approximation of the profits connected to the
violations to determine the disgorgement amolghtat 1192 n.60ncethe SECestablishes a
reasonable approximation of the disgorgement amount the burden of proof shift®ébethgants

SEC v. First City Fin. Corp., 890 F.2d 1215, 1232 (D.C. Cir. 1988lkel factual allegationghe

allegations relating tthe amount of damag suffered are not ordinarily accepted as tipen
default judgementlelevideq 826 F.2d at 917-18.

The SECallegesn its complaint thaDefendang defrauded investors of $21,000,000.
Compl. T 10. Plaintiff offers no evidence to substantiate this amoumwrance’sletter to
investorshowever, Lowrancstates thahelost $26,000,000 of investor funds. Yun Decl. Eat2
10, ECFNo. 25. Plaintiff offers no evidence or explanation for the diffeeebetween the two
figures.

Even if $21 million is the SEC’s conservative estimate, it must still proffer sosie foa
its approximation. Bank statements, depositions, and other written records argpnopgiate
types of documentation &stablishareasonable appxrimation of ilkgotten gains. Compa®&EC
v. Earthly Minerals Solutions, Inc., 2:@2V-1057 JCM LRL, 2011 WL 1103349 (D. Nev. 2011)

(utilized depositions and records to determine disgorgement am8&@);. SouzaClV S-09-
2421 KJM, 2011 WL 2181365 (E.D. Cal. 201@)eated a table of amounts invested and returne

to investors).
9
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If Plaintiff can show a reasonal@pproximation ofll -gotten gainsadding prgudgment

interest to therincipal will be appropriateéSECv. Cross Financial Seices, Inc, 908 F. Supp.

718, 734 (C.D. Cal. 1995). Interest should be calculated pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §HS61.
Platform Wireless Intern. Corp17 F.3d 1072, 1099-1100 (9th Cir. 2011).

3. Statutory Penalties Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 17t(d)(2)(C)

Congress has prescribed three tiersasfgities for violations of domestic securities
regulations. 15 U.S.C. &%d)(2). The highest tier is reserved faolations that (1) involve fraud,
deceit, manipulation, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulagoreraent ang2) either
directly or indirectly resulted in or created substantial risk of substant&aldahis third tier, the
court may impose penalties of up to $150,p680violationfor a natural persqrand up to
$725,000 per violatiofor any other persorl7 C.F.R. 201.1004 (2009); 17 C.F.R. 201, Subpt. E
Tbl. IV. Each client deudedby Lowrance andrirst Capitalis a separateiolation of 15 U.S.C.

88 77e(a), 77e(c), and (&) The motion for default judgmentleges Lowrance arféirst Capital
had 23(clients;therefore the maximurallowablepenalty is $150,000 x 230 = $34,500,000 for
Lowrance (a natural persprand $725,000 x 230 = $166,750,000Fawst Capital

Becausef the magnitude of the fraud, the clear showing that Lowrance knew of the
wrongful nature of his behavior, and the egregiousness of Defendants’ conduct, the cothrafind
the maximum penalties are warranted in this case.

4. Ancillary Relief
The Court has the equitable authoritytder an accounting to identify assetsen dealing

with overseas defendan8EC v. Int’l Swiss Inv. Corp.895 F.2d 1272, 1276 (9th Cir. 1990).

Lowrance had his investors transfer their money to Marylaretevhe hadhe funds converted to
Euros andransferredo a bank in the Netherlands. Compl. § 14. Lowrdrasadmittedto having
a bank account in Peas well. Yun DeclEx. 2at23, ECF No. 25lt is entirely possible that
Lowrance andrirst Capitalhave other unknown overseas accounts which they used to hide theg
proceeds of their unlawful scheme. It is bothsonable angithin this Court’s authority to require
an accounting of all overseas funds to assist with the disgorgement and collectioaltdgerl he

judgment will order an accounting.
10
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1. ORDER

Good cause therefor appearing, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Pl&ntifition for
default judgment is GRANTEDWIthin 14 days of the date of this Order, the SEC shall submit t
basis for a reasonbapproximation of the disgorgement amount requested, or explain why no
further showing is requiredrinal judgment will beenteredsoon aftethat deadlineThe judgment
will incorporate the disgorgement request only if a sufficient basis fomtlberthas been
demonstrated.
IT 1SSO ORDERED.
Dated:Juy 5, 2012

=000 s

EDWARD J. DAVILA
United States District Judge
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